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To The Board of Governors and Senate of
The University of British Columbia.

Gentlemen:

There are, 1 think, solid grounds for satisfaction and
optimism in the report on the academic year 1947-48
which 1 herewith submit. The satisfaction comes from
the series of achievements of faculty, staff and students in
a year of record enrolment. The optimism comes from
the pattern of future university development which bas
begun to emerge, even in the midst of our emergency pro-
gramme.

The future will bring a decline in our enrolment and a
consequent decline in total revenue. But as we achieve
normal operating conditions we shall find ourselves with
more and better facilities than ever before, with a mature
and exper’enced staff and with larger revenues in propor-
tion to the numbers of students enrolled, than we have
ever had before. Further, because of the importance of
the contribution that we make, not only to the young men
and women who come to us, but to the economy and wel-
fare of the Province and nation as well, I am convinced
that we will receive in an increasing measure additional
support from the Provincial Legislature, from Depart-
ments of the Government at Ottawa, and from private
individuals and corporations. All of this should mean that
we shall be able to give more adequate training to the in-
creasing numbers of young men and women that a grow-
ing province is sending to us.






Presidents Report

THE academic year 1947-48 has made us aware that we
have reached the peak of our post-war expansion and of
the organization of emergency services to meet the needs
of that expansion. Thanks to the gigantic effort of the
faculty and the cooperation of the student body we have
done our best to meet the challenge of the post-war situ-
ation. But during these past months we have also seen
more clearly the shape of things to come, and, while still
maintaining our emergency services, we have begun to
plan for the more normal period which will follow.

Student enrolment reached its highest point this year
with the attendance of 9,374 students—an increase of
more than 600 over 1946-47—but there has been a sig-
nificant shift in the percentage of veteran and non-veteran
students. This year’s veteran enrolment has dropped from
4,800 to 4,339 and the non-veteran students, who number
4,917, represent 539, of the total number. These figures
agree with the estimate that, in normal times, we may
expect an enrolment of approximately 5,000 students.

We have not yet finished the emergency period. Our
army hut class rooms and our emergency housing facili-
ties are still full to capacity; our staff is still carrying an
extremely heavy load of teaching and administration; but
our thmkmg and planning durmg the past months have
been in part directed to the provision of permanent build-
ings, staff, and courses which will meet the needs of that
expected normal enrolment.
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Retirements

The passing of time and the devotion of senior members
of the staff have been underlined during the past year by
the approach of retirement for several well-known campus
figures, who voluntarily remained with us during the
heavy demands of our expansion program:

Dr. Isabel MacInnes Head of the Department of
German, a member of the original teaching staff and
with us for thirty-two years; Dr. G. G. Sedgewick, noted
Shakespearean authority, Head of the -English Depart-
ment, who has been with us for twenty-nine years; Dr.
Dazhiel Buchanan, who joined the Mathematics Depart-
ment in 1920, and eight years later became Dean of Arts
and Science; Dr. R:##H. Clark, Head of the Department
of Chemistry since 1928, and on the staff since 1916; Dr.
W. L. Macdonald, a member of the English Department
since 1919; Dr. John Davidson, who began his teaching
in the Department of Biology and Botany in 1917; Dr.
A. E. Hennings, a member of the Department of Physics
since.1919; and Mr. Frank Buck, for twenty-eight years
a member of the Department of Horticulture—the list
of names reminds us not only of their distinguished
academic careers but of the many and effective ways in
which they have represented the University in writing
and speaking and have contributed to many different
aspects of community life. We also said goodbye to Dr.
Harry Ashton, the distinguished French scholar, who was
a member of the University’s original teaching staff, and
who, after his years at Cambridge University, returned
to help us in our critical period, and to Mr. Angus
MacLucas, with us since 1926 and Bursar since 1934. Mr.
William Moir and Mr. Edwin Chell of the maintenance
staff also reached retirement after years of efficient and
cheerful service both in the Fairview shacks and on the
Point Grey campus, , .

. These .men: and women of decided and varied charac-
ter have enriched campus life and campus legend. Their
six



services are a part of the permanent history of the Uni-
versity and their contributions both on the campus and
in community life have helped to make this institution the
vital educational force which it is. Of them all we say,
as did their colleagues on the nlght of their farewell dinner:
“They have finished their campalgn with -distinction and
merited a dlscharge with honour.”

Building Program

Our building program during the past years has neces-
sarily included a great deal of emergency construction.
Even in recent months we have allocated and re-allocated
many army huts for classroom and laboratory use. With
the largest veteran enrolment moving into the upper years,
considerable sums have been spent to provide more ac-
commodation in such courses as Engineering, Geology and
Forestry, to instal and refit laboratories and to complete
other emergency measures. This part of our program is
now all but concluded, all our emergency buildings are in
use, and we shall not require further expansion of this

kind.

The permanent building program, which is designed to
meet the needs of that expected enrolment of from 5,000
to 6,000 students, is under way. We have our Physics
Building and the new north wing of the Library. (I shall
be discussing the work of the Library in a later section of
this report, but I should like to mention here that we shall
always regard this magnificent addition as a monument to
the vision and devoted work of our first librarian, Mr.
John Ridington, and his successor, Dr. Kaye Lamb, who
at the close of the year was offered and felt obllged to
accept the post of National Archivist and the task of
planning a Natlop‘al Library for Canada.) The Agricul-
tural Engineering and Mechanics Bulldlng and the addition
to the Boiler, and Power House are.also in use, and our land
clearing program is nearly completed.



Unfortunately, rising costs of labor and materials have
sharply curtailed the plans based on the government’s
allocation (in 1945) of $5,000,000 to the University’s
building program. We are grateful for the prospect of
further financial assistance which will enable us to attain
some of the goals we must realize if the University is to
put forth its best efforts in terms of the years of service
and the thousands of trained young men and women it
can provide for this province. We look forward to the
completion of the Applied Science Building, and to the
construction ‘of the Biological Sciences and Pharmacy
Building, and of the Preventive Medicine and Nursing
Building (the first unit of our proposed Medical School).
Plans are already advanced for the War Memorial Gym-
nasium and we are hopeful about 2 much-needed Women’s
Residence. But with the opening of the Medical School
we must also have a Medical Sciences Building and we
realize that our future plans must take into consideration
the following needs:

Women’s and Men’s Residences |

A New Arts Building

A Law Building

A Home Economics Building

An Administration Building

A Modern Cafeteria

A Building for Extension and Adult Education

A University Museum

Additional buildings for Agriculture and Forestry
An Art Centre

Housing and Residences

The University is responsible for the operation of Aca-
dia, Wesbrook, Fort, Little Mountain, and Lulu Island
Camps, and the trailer camps adjoining Acadia and Wes-
brook. All this emergency housing is full to capacity. Our
undertaking includes provision for the general comfort
and welfare of all residents of the camps (faculty, staff,
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